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Above: Teacher Sue Strickland 
accompanied students from 

Emerson to Highland in February 
1966. The lessons learned from that 

integration effort were applied to 
all other Riverside schools for full 
integration starting in September 

1966. The map above shows 
how students were transferred 

(Hendrick, The Development 
of a School Integration Plan in 

Riverside, California, A History 
and Perspective. 248).

Strickland continued from page 87

been in my second grade, and they put him in a first grade math group. I 
said, “Oh no, no, no, he doesn’t belong there, he’s good in math.” 

Well, he stayed one day in first grade math, and the teacher said, “He 
doesn’t belong in that group.” I said, “I know.” Well, he moved up. He 
ended up graduating from college as a math major.

I think they needed to be more sensitive to some of the needs of the children. 
One little boy, they were upset because he was taking other children’s 

lunches. When I looked at his lunch, I thought I would 
have taken someone else’s, too. It was very meager. He 
was probably hungry. 

I think the teachers needed some training probably. Not 
all of them—some of them were very receptive, and went 
out of their way to make the children feel comfortable. But 
I think we could have done more to prepare the teachers for 
receiving the children. We were getting children from all 
different classes. I know Esther [Velez Andrews] and Bea 
[Pavitt] did some work [to prepare students and families]. 
But [preparing the teachers] was one of the things we 
could have done a little differently. It was hard, in the 
middle of the year like that. It was a kind of difficult time. 

When you look at the history of Riverside, it was a 
divided city. And then in the 20s when the Klan came 
here, it became more so. Early on, blacks lived kind of all 
over. And then after the 20s, they kind of settled on the 
Eastside. The Mexicans were not treated so kindly either.

[In Riverside] the jobs were horrible for black people. My 
mother was born here. My grandparents met and married 
here. My mother’s sisters all left Riverside because there 
were no jobs. We were offered only menial work. That was 
all we ever got. Many of the people in Riverside had good 
educations but they left because they couldn’t use them. . . . 
They all left, because the opportunities were not here. 

Then we had this influx of outsiders that were very 
intelligent and already had jobs. Housing and lots of 
things changed. Prior, they had had restricted covenants 
here in housing. [The practice of covenants that restricted 
the rental, lease, or sale of homes to “whites only” became 

commonplace starting in the 1920s. In California, a 1959 attempt to 
legislate fair housing was scuttled by a successful 1964 statewide ballot 
proposition that allowed property owners to discriminate on the basis of 
race, religion, or ethnic background. The California Supreme Court struck 
down the proposition in 1966.] 

Things did change. I think the community wanted more at that point. 
It was a big change. A lot of people came in with degrees, engineers and 
doctors. The community changed. They were angry. The whole mood of 
the country was not good, when you look at the killings, and everything 
that was going on. 
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Above: School attendance area boundaries for 1966–1967. The criteria for assigning students sought to integrate 
students into classrooms throughout the system. In addition, school planners tried to make sure students from the 
same families stayed together, that students from the same blocks and small neighborhoods stayed together, and that 
receiving schools had adequate classroom space. The maps at right show how students were transferred (Hendrick, The 
Development of a School Integration Plan in Riverside, California, A History and Perspective. 219, 246-248).
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students were ranked last in the district. 

Other measurement data showed that 

for all grades, academic achievement in 

Casa Blanca fell in the lower quartile. 

The committee members were supplied 

with information about how segregated 

education affects achievement. Still, it was 

going to be a tough job to get community 

support for the closing of Casa Blanca 

School and all that it meant.

I can remember speaking at one early 

meeting during which I was taking 

questions. One older woman stood up. I 

am sure that she had not spoken in a public 

meeting before, and she quietly said, “Mr. 

Littleworth, I have a son. He went to Casa 

Blanca, and he’s now a barber. Don’t you 

think that is really a good thing? Why 

do you want to change us?” The thought 

running through my mind was did your 

son really want to be a barber, or under 

different circumstances could he have been 

a teacher or an engineer or anything else? 

But to have answered the question in that 

way would have been rude, so I answered 

more carefully. “Of course, it was good. 

And there are lots of good people who have 

gone through Casa Blanca School. But 

basically we thought it would be helpful 

if they began to move into the Riverside 

community and recognize that in the long 

run we are all Americans. We are one 

people and you shouldn’t stay isolated in 

the local Casa Blanca community.”

Most of the turn-around in Casa Blanca, 

however, was due to the work of Ernie 

Robles. He had gone to school in Casa 

Blanca and had become a teacher in 

Riverside and was specially assigned to 
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this project. He worked tirelessly in meeting after 

meeting of parents and community leaders to get 

integration accepted and to close down the Casa 

Blanca School. He succeeded. Later Robles worked 

for the U.S. Department of Education and was 

honored by Riverside City College as Alumnus of 

the Year in 1997.

The Casa Blanca Study Committee asked the 

administration to prepare a plan for integration. 

That plan called for the transportation of 180 Casa 

Blanca children to other schools in 1966, and the 

balance of about 250 children to be transported 

in 1967. Casa Blanca School would be closed in 

1967. The Committee unanimously approved the 

administration’s plan in March 1966.

Citywide integration began in September 1965, when about 260 kindergarten and 

primary grade pupils were moved from Lowell and Irving Schools to ten different 

schools in the district. That was a crisis decision resulting from the fire, and there was 

no time for advance planning.

 But with Emerson School it was different. Emerson was scheduled to move 

approximately 100 minority students in February 1966, to Highland and Hyatt 

Schools. Planning began in the fall of 1965. Berry and Wall met with Emerson 

School minority parents to explain the significance of the move. In-service education 

was provided to acquaint the teachers at Emerson, Highland, and Hyatt with some 

problems related to intergroup education. The Emerson teachers visited the homes of 

all the children scheduled to be transferred. Visits were arranged to their new schools. 

The principals of Highland and Hyatt personally received them. Tours of classrooms 

and other facilities were conducted, each incoming pupil met his new teacher, and the 

school program was explained. Other meetings were held with P.T.A. representatives 

and room mothers, and refreshments were served. The welcoming also continued after 

school began with the local Highland and Hyatt elementary pupils being the hosts and 

serving the refreshments.

The Emerson move was an outstanding success. The challenge was to carry over 

that success to 1,000 pupils throughout the district in the fall of 1966.

I am sure that many parents encouraged their children to welcome the newcomers. In 

1965–66, my son, Todd, was at Alcott School. Alcott was the center of the protestors’ 

petition against the integration plan. My marching orders to Todd each day were to 

welcome the pupils from Lowell and to stop any bullying. But as Bruce Miller said 

Ernest Robles.
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. . . Matthews continued on page 95

Denise Matthews: I remember the night that the fire 
happened; a lot of the neighbors were coming out 
into the street, talking about the fact that the school 
had burned. My main memories were just a lot of 
confusion, “Where was I going to school, who was 
my teacher going to be, the classmates I had known 
from school, would we see each other anymore? 
Would we end up at the same school?”

As the days went on, the neighborhood people 
began to refer to the fire as the “firebombing,” as 
opposed to the “fire.” 

I had watched the Watts riots on TV, and there were 
people throwing Molotov cocktails into buildings. And when I started hearing 
the term firebombing, I started thinking in my mind that someone had 
thrown a Molotov cocktail into the big building. That was the connection 
that I made. Then I remember talk in the neighborhood, I never heard a 
suspect named, but I remember my parents having conversations with other 
parents initially that they thought somebody white did it, and then over time 
the speculation was that somebody from right there on Carlton Place had 
done it. What I remember hearing was that the school board hadn’t been 
acting fast enough to integrate the schools, and that this had been done to 
force the school board’s hand. 

From my standpoint, I sort of forgot about Lowell; it was like it was 
missing from the neighborhood. My focus was on the new school, and going 
there. We lived right down the street from Lowell. We frequently headed 
that direction, going down Carlton Street. Just looking over there, and the 
big building was gone. We could see the rows of the other classrooms that 
were still in the back and the kindergarten building which eventually turned 
into the church. That’s all that was there. It was so different.

In fact, I didn’t find out until years later that some of the kids actually 
returned to Lowell and continued to go to school there. I didn’t know that. I 
thought that everybody had been dispersed to other schools. 

I remember the talk about boycotting. I didn’t know what that word 
meant. I was asking my parents, “What does that mean, we’re 
boycotting?” I don’t know what explanation they gave me now, but I can 
distinctly remember asking them what it meant. I know a lot of people were 
talking about it.

I also remember the Freedom School. I remember thinking I hadn’t been 
in [the Masonic Lodge] in a long time. We had recess right across the street 
at Lincoln Park, and that rang a bell because in the summertime we would 
always go swimming at Lincoln Park. So I thought, “We get to have 
recess in the park.” I remember thinking that was cool.

For me, things started to happen so rapidly after the fire. . . . My parents 
and the Renfros, they had petitioned the school board; courtesy of that we 
ended up at Pachappa. It was actually a pretty smooth transition into 
Pachappa. The first day of school, it seems like we got there late. I can 
remember my teacher stopping whatever he was doing, and saying this is 
our new student. . . . I don’t remember any problems, getting along with the 
other kids, everybody made friends really quickly. 

DENISE MATTHEWS

STUDENT AT  
LOWELL SCHOOL

When Denise Matthews was a child, 
her family moved from 12th Street 
to Carlton Place, just north of the 
arroyo, on the same street as the 

Renfros and the Blands. The year 
before Lowell burned, she was in 
the same class as Wanda [Poole] 

Scruggs and Craig Goodwin. After 
Lowell burned, she transferred to 

Pachappa. The Renfros moved to 
the San Jose area during the summer 

of 1966 when Don Renfro was 
transferred by his employer, IBM. 

The Pooles later moved to Rubidoux. 
It seemed that most of her nearby 

neighborhood friends had scattered 
by the time she got to Alcott as a 
part of the implementation of the 

integration plan. 

She lived in Riverside until 
she graduated from Riverside 

Polytechnic High School in 1973, 
when she went to Los Angeles and 

attended the University of Southern 
California on academic scholarship. 

She graduated with her degree 
in business administration. Since 

retiring from a successful career with 
DuPont, she enjoys traveling and 

freelance writing.
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in his remarks on integration, “We do not need to fear how the children are going to 

respond to the plan which has been outlined here tonight.” And he was right.

My involvement in the planning for 1966 was not so “hands on” as it had 

been during the crisis leading up to the integration plan. My role was a more 

traditional leadership and policy role as Board president. But my instructions to the 

administration were clear: detailed planning was imperative for the plan to be assured 

of success. I likened that to a law case. You can form a great strategy, but you can 

stumble over a small detail and lose. Enormous preparation was undertaken for the 

1966 fall opening.

The same kind of Emerson-Hyatt-Highland actions and relations were spread 

district-wide into the receiving schools. But some teachers had never related to African 

Americans and Mexican Americans. Some teachers had little experience in dealing 

with pupils of low achievement. Some felt insecure about matters of discipline or 

dealing with minority parents. 

Teachers were essential to the process of integration, and we offered them help in 

many areas: the first general in-service education for teachers occurred in November 

1965. At that time the director of intergroup education went to individual schools to 

discuss integration. In the summer of 1966 the California Department of Education 

sponsored a joint effort between the District and UCR on integration in the 

community. In the following year, 1967, the federal government, under a provision of 

the Civil Rights Act, provided funds for the seminars held in April, May, August, and 

November. Part of the program was that Ray Berry would attend the closing session 

of each seminar and would hear, accept, and respond to suggestions by the group.

Other programs were also developed. While teachers still visited the homes of children 

about to be moved, most of the home visits were transferred to the Home-School 

Program, a program financed by Title I of the Elementary and Secondary Education 

Act of 1965. During the winter and spring of 1966, eleven “Community Aides” made 

more than 1,500 home visits. All of the aides were minorities. None of them was a 

professional. Formal education was not a requisite of this position. The only criterion 

was the ability to assist their neighbors and explain the integration plan.

Title I also financed well-equipped reading rooms and specialist reading teachers 

in eight elementary schools and all junior high and high schools. Not only minorities 

but also low-income families were eligible for help. Children needing help were 

transported to the eight centers if their own schools did not have a reading room. 

All in all, more than 400 children were involved, with each child experiencing forty 

minutes of individualized instruction four days a week.
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 . . . Matthews continued on page 97

Matthews continued from page 93

My parents, the Renfros, and the Pooles, got together to work out the 
transportation to get us all back and forth to Pachappa. . . . Since my parents 
both worked at Harris Company, my father would take us to school when he 
was taking my mother to work. 

His afternoon coffee break was right around the 
time we were getting out of school, and he worked 
out an arrangement with his boss where he could 
take an extra 10 or 15 minutes. Most of the time he 
would pick us up and take us home. He would take 
everybody back to our house, and everybody was in 
walking distance from there. Occasionally, the other 
parents would chip in with some of the driving if he 
couldn’t get away in the afternoons. But I think he 
was the transportation every morning for us to get 
to school and most times for us to get home in the 
afternoon as well. 

I don’t remember there being any problems until the 
next year, when I ended up at Alcott for sixth grade. 

I am guessing that this may have been the first day 
or first week of school. I remember a group of white 
parents at the entrance or near the entrance to the 
school. They were yelling. I am assuming this was 
a protest of some sort over the black children coming 
into Alcott. I can’t remember the specifics; I can just 
remember a group of parents standing at the entrance 
to the school yelling.

I was not bused to Alcott, either. My parents would 
take me to school. I don’t remember how long that 
went on. They would take me to school, and they 
would pick me up. I remember later in the year I 
started riding my bike to school. I would go down the 
hill through the golf course, which I thought was the 
most fun thing in the world, cruising down that hill. 

My mother was very fair also, and the kids did not recognize that my 
mother was black. My father was visibly black. I can remember my father 
picking me up from school one day [and] some of the white kids taking 
note. . . .  And being teased and being taunted about that for quite some 
time, “Denise has a n_____ father.” I can very distinctly remember that. 
And that went on for quite some period of time. There was one boy who was 
kind of the ringleader. I can still remember his name to this day.

I can also remember that being a very confusing time. Because in our 
home, and most of the kids I grew up with, the black kids, we weren’t 
taught about what I would call racism in our homes, and we really weren’t 
that aware of race, per se. It was all this kind of family of Eastsiders, and 
we had all grown up together. In fact, there was a white family that lived 
on Pleasant Street, their name was Jordan, and their son Anthony went 
to Lowell. At one point, Anthony probably wasn’t the only white kid, 
but he was one of the few white kids left at Lowell. And we never thought 

Top: After the Lowell School fire, 
the upper grades were housed in 
this remaining building and one 
other like it until the school was 

closed in September 1966.

Bottom: The Masonic Hall, one of 
the Freedom School sites.



96

There was an additional reading room established at the now-empty Irving School 

for more serious reading disabilities. The program was held in six classrooms and 

was staffed by teachers, a psychologist, a speech therapist, a hearing pathologist, 

and a nurse.

And there were the successful lessons learned from the Highland and Hyatt School 

experiences: school visits to the receiving schools, meet your new teacher, teacher 

aides, UCR tutors, parent volunteers, P.T.A. activists, and welcoming receptions.

 Since complex busing was involved, practice runs were scheduled before school 

began in September 1966. Parent volunteers stood with groups waiting for the bus. 

And later, we had in-service training for bus drivers about their role in making 

integration a success.

All in all, we had enormous preparation so that integration was meaningful and was 

not merely desegregation.

Before the opening of school in September 1966, I again addressed the whole 

faculty in the auditorium of Ramona High School. The auditorium holds 1,200 

people and it was jammed. I outlined the preparations that had been made for a 

successful integration but I emphasized that continued success depended on the 

classroom teacher. I spoke to them about what was expected of them. This was a 

fragile situation in which a single racial incident could blow things sky high. Every 

teacher became a highly influential person; each one had to solve every problem that 

arose and do it satisfactorily. There were going to be problems where there was no 

preparation or direction, and the teacher would have to simply jump in and take care 

of every one of them. We had to be right all of the time, and we couldn’t afford to 

have bad decisions. The message that day was, “Don’t blow it for everybody.”

It was a good speech and the teachers were very supportive. The opening day in this 

historical fall of 1966 went forward without a hitch.
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of Anthony as the white kid or different; he was just part of the Eastside 
family. So there wasn’t this really strong awareness of a racial divide.

Even though I don’t look visibly black, for the most part, growing up in 
the neighborhood where everybody knew us, there was never any question 
about who we were or that we were black. Even at Pachappa, that never 
really came up as an issue. All of a sudden I get to Alcott, and I’m being 
called all these names that I knew were derogatory. It was confusing for me, 

because I knew I was black, but I looked like 
the white kids. And my parents had never really 
talked to me about that. 

It was just really confusing because here are 
these people calling me names, but I look like 
them, but I knew I wasn’t the same as them. 
That was a really rough year . . .  

I remember my sixth grade teacher, Miss 
Sandusky. I don’t remember her treating me 
any other way than the way she treated the 
rest of the students. But my parents told me 
that she would send progress reports home, and 
the progress reports would always reflect her 
surprise that I was doing as well in class as the 
white kids. There was a presumption that either 

because I was black or because I had come from Lowell, that I wouldn’t 
have been on their level. I had always been a straight A student. I can 
remember that really bothering my parents and in fact, my parents having 
some parent–teacher conferences with her to discuss it. 

 The good thing was that, even though sixth grade was a tough year, it 
exposed me to different people who had a different way of life from what I 
had known, [it] forced me into a different world and showed me there was 
something other than the Eastside. The other side of the golf course was a 
world that I knew existed, but that we didn’t really venture into, because 
we didn’t belong over there. 

Moving from 12th Street in Riverside to Carlton Place was a pretty daring 
thing in 1960. I can remember people from the old neighborhood on 12th 
Street asking my parents, “Why do you want to go over there. It’s just 
going to be you over there.” 

I didn’t really understand what the big deal was about moving. It was 
the American dream, “We’re moving to a nicer neighborhood now, a 
neighborhood that’s integrated.” I didn’t really understand what integrated 
meant at five years old, but I knew we were moving some place that was 
different from where we had been. But even though we moved to Carlton 
Place, most of what we did or the people we interacted with were still 
Eastside. You never really made that leap to the other side of the golf course 
and what life was like over there, so it was always this kind of mystery. I 
guess what fifth and sixth grade did for me was show me what that was, 
and it was within the realm of something I could achieve if I worked hard 
enough. Had it not been for that, I think I would have grown up in more of 
a closed world. 

It did get better. I remember over time, the name-calling stopped. 

Above: Denise Matthews’ sixth 
grade class at Alcott School. Denise 

is in the top row, second from left.

Matthews continued from page 95
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Scarcely a meeting of the School Board or the administration went by after 1966 

without discussion of some phase of the integration program: unused space at Irving 

and Casa Blanca; the recruitment of more minority teachers; the budget; attention to 

the racial balance in the junior high schools; reassignment of principals; applications 

to the federal government to assist in integration; changes in school boundaries; 

progress in integrating the schools; and a thousand more details. 

During the first year of integration, we had an incident that threatened to bring 

about a renewal of our racial crisis. A black mother, Mrs. Louise George, had a 

particular complaint which she took to the principal’s office of Washington School. 

The principal was Frank Gibson, who had been vocal in his opposition to the Board’s 

action on integration. We thought about removing him, but he was the symbol to 

those in Riverside who thought the Board had caved in to pressure resulting from the 

burning of Lowell School. His removal would have posed another potential crisis. The 

mother and the principal turned a conversation about her complaint into a shouting 

match. Then Mrs. George, who was a large woman, reached across the desk and 

whacked the principal, knocking him down. Gibson called the police and Mrs. George 

was charged with criminal assault. Well, the School Board couldn’t condone anyone 

hitting a principal or teacher. Still, from the minority point of view, Gibson was a 

CHAPTER 7 — EPILOGUE

The Press-Enterprise reported the 1966 annual 
awards of the Riverside Civic League: Ruth 
Bratten was named outstanding woman; Arthur 
Littleworth, outstanding elected official; and 
John Wentz, outstanding appointed official.
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racist and deserved to be hit. Gibson was waiting for the administration and the 

Board to put pressure on him to dismiss the legal complaint, but we didn’t.

Instead, I went to the district attorney personally. I had known Byron Morton since 

January 1951. We had been sworn to the bar on the same day and celebrated with 

dinner that evening at the Squire Arms in the Mission Inn, clearly the best restaurant 

in town at the time.

 At this meeting, I said to him, “Byron, you have got to dismiss the complaint. This 

has a potential for another racial crisis.” He replied, “Oh, Art, the complaint was 

filed. I can’t do anything. The law says it must go to trial.” Well, that’s not true. I 

knew that the district attorney had wide discretion and I finally got him to agree to at 

least slow things down. Meanwhile, I tried to calm things down with the community 

and tried to not lose the support of the teachers and at the same time to not incite 

another problem with the black community.

 As time passed, things began to calm down. I continued to meet with the district 

attorney, and a month later he dismissed the complaint. So even though we had 

avoided escalation into a big issue, it was the kind of thing that I was worried about—

the kind of incident that could happen and cause the whole community to flare up.

We had an invaluable troubleshooter who worked with the students. Dell Roberts was 

an African American with a football player’s build and a great smile. He was loved 

by students and parents and was honored by numerous organizations, including the 

Riverside Unified School District and the city of Riverside. He retired from the District 

in 2003, after 38 years of service. We had each other’s telephone numbers, and he used 

to call me if there were any threatened racial school fights. There were not many. And 

I would call him if I heard about any racial disturbance. He was a football coach and 

he had other duties, but it was great to have a friend on the inside. 

There was prompt attention to discipline problems. I can remember one incident at 

University Junior High School. We got word from parents, about 9:30 p.m., that there 

was going to be a gang fight the next day. By 11:30 that night we had a plan, and in 

the morning there were qualified people to handle the problem.

Riverside could be justly proud of its achievement—the first voluntary integration of 

any large school district in the United States. It had been a harmonious transition, not 

ordered by the federal court resulting in “white flight.” The teachers, administration, 

and parents were determined to make it work—to create greater educational 

opportunities for minorities while still preserving the rights of the majority.

The voters of Riverside must have been satisfied with the performance of their School 

Board members. There was a School Board election in November 1966, with two 

seats open. The terms were expiring for Mrs. Kendrick and me, and we both filed 
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for reelection. This was an opportunity to substantially change the School Board, 

but only one challenger, Raymond P. Horspool, filed. He ran on an anti-integration 

platform and was defeated by a two-to-one majority. The Press-Enterprise editorial 

strongly supported the reelection of Mrs. Kendrick and me: 

Riverside has blessed itself with a first class School Board. And there have 
been few times in the history of this state when it has been as important 
to have skilled and sensible policy makers on its local school boards. The 
present elected representatives of the people of the Riverside Unified School 
District have guided the schools through a period of considerable crisis 
with enlightened effectiveness. . . . Arthur Littleworth has, as president, been 
the guiding spirit of the Board, and an excellent one. Suffice it to say, the 
community could hope for no better man to head its Board of Education.

A UCR study interviewed parents every year for ten years after the integration. 

They found support for the integration program for the first year or two in the 90 

percent range. This was for all elements of the community—white, African American, 

and those in Casa Blanca. While the support dropped off a little in later years, the 

support still remained high.

 The Riverside Teacher’s Association nominated the Board for a state award, and 

State Superintendent of Public Instruction Max Rafferty (an outspoken conservative) 

wrote, “I know of no school board in the United States which has done more on its 

own initiative to solve the problems of ethnic imbalance in its schools.” In May 1966, 

the National Education Association (NEA) presented an award to the Riverside 

Unified School District for “distinctive merit” for its efforts in school integration. I 

was one of three recipients of the Riverside Civic League award as an “Outstanding 

Citizen” for 1966.

On April 15, 1967 I received a telegram from Governor Ronald Reagan, asking 

me if I could see him in Sacramento on April 25, 1967. He had just taken office in 

January of 1967. The telegram read:

 I would like to discuss with you some of the urgent educational problems 
currently confronting our minority communities. I know that these problems 
are of great concern to you also, and I am very hopeful, therefore, that you 
will be able to meet with me on Thursday, April 25 from 9:30 to 11:00 a.m. 
here in my office in Sacramento. Please notify Mrs. Lee Simonds of our 
press department whether or not you will be able to attend. 

Sincerely, Ronald Reagan.

I accepted. I don’t remember who the other people were, but there were four or five 

of us from school districts around the state. We were ushered into the conference 

room right next to the governor’s office. The door opened, and he came in. He was 

a very handsome person and, I remember, tall. He was about six-foot-two. He had 
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William Medina: I disagree that Riverside integrated 
voluntarily. It wasn’t really voluntary, if you look at 
the circumstances, the context. It was the civil rights 
movement, Watts is burning in August ’65, and then 
the following month, they burn down the school. All 
that is adding to the tension in Riverside plus what is 
going on nationally. In addition, Riverside was in the 
wrong, legally, so they had to act. 

I remember hearing about the fire, you could smell 
the smoke. I must have been seven years old. My 
friends and I walked to the school. Big pile of rubble, 
and sure enough the fire department closed it off. I 
remember going home and getting a wagon, and 

somehow we were able to cross the barricades and pick out books, put the 
books in the wagon and take them home. I can’t recall details, because I was 
a kid. But I knew there was tension about where we were going to school. I 
remember going to Freedom School, it was one day. We went to a church, 
Victoria and 11th, our classroom was in the basement. My dad and Mr. 
Carlos, Jess Carlos, he owned a grocery, brought boxes of cookies and chips 
for the kids. We had a blast. I don’t remember sitting down, no academics, 
but I remember running around playing. 

We knew we were going to be bused to white schools. All the boys on the 
block, just little kids, seven years old, we were afraid because we were scared 
of white people. I don’t remember ever talking to a white kid. Then we were 
going to this white school. We knew a little about prejudice, we heard parents’ 
conversations. So we started teaching ourselves karate. In my dad’s front 
yard, learning self-taught karate, because we were going to defend ourselves, 
going to this white school. We were worried about being attacked.

I remember going to Pachappa the first time, seeing a kid with blond hair, 
sitting right behind him. I had never been that close to anyone with blond 
hair. I was mesmerized by that blond hair, straight, neat. I am sure they had 
the same reaction. They would stare at us too. 

My mom at the restaurant would make us burritos for school. The kids 
would laugh. I am seven or eight years old, I’m thinking they’re laughing at 
me because I had a tortilla. So I didn’t do that again. I took peanut butter 
and jelly sandwiches. Different times, these white kids didn’t know what a 
tortilla was. 

At first it’s mutual suspicion, but it breaks down . . . . It didn’t last very long, 
it wasn’t very serious. All that eventually evaporated. 

My dad was happy with the busing at first, but it was inconvenient, we had 
to get up early and catch the bus at the school site, but later on they set up bus 
stops closer to our homes. It did fragment the Eastside because there were kids 
just a few blocks away I had no contact with, I did not meet them until I went 
to Central Middle School. The only thing I remember my dad complaining 
about, is that the busing was one way. “It’s not fair, we’re being bused to the 
white schools, why aren’t they being bused? Why isn’t it both ways?” For me, 
the busing experience, although inconvenient, was great. Otherwise I would 
never have had that contact with white kids. I think it helped me out later in 
life because psychologically, I didn’t feel inferior, I felt more confident. 

WILLIAM O. MEDINA

STUDENT AT  
LOWELL SCHOOL

William Medina was a first grade 
student when Lowell burned. His 

parents, Oscar and Josephine 
Medina, opened Zacatecas 

Restaurant in 1963 at the corner of 
Park and University Avenues.  

In 1985, it relocated two blocks 
away, on University Avenue, and 

remains an important fixture in  
the Eastside community. 

He attended Riverside City College 
and went on to get a degree and 

teaching certificate from University 
of California, Riverside. He 

alternated periods of teaching high 
school and working at the restaurant, 

including caring for his father after 
a stroke. William Medina earned a 
PhD in history at UCR. His thesis 
focused on The Sherman Institute, 

the residential Indian high school 
located on Magnolia Avenue in 

Riverside. His grandmother was a 
student there.Today he is an adjunct 

professor of American history at 
Riverside City College and  

San Bernardino Valley College.
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an impressive physical presence with broad shoulders, a trim waist, and a big smile. 

He came in and said, “I’m Ron Reagan,” and he went around the table and shook 

everybody’s hand.

 He had no Secretary of Education, no aides, no secretaries of any kind with him, it 

was him alone. He sat down and told us that he just wanted to talk to us about school 

matters, and what we’d learned about racial problems. And so for several hours we 

just talked with him. 

He gave me ample time and I went through 

my experiences from 1965–66, stressing the 

alienation that the minorities felt, and what 

we might do in making minorities feel a part 

of the majority community and share in the 

American dream. I added that those of us  

in power ought to listen and do what we 

could to restore faith in government—and  

to all authority. 

What kind of an effect that may have had 

or didn’t have on school matters in California 

we’ll never know, but it was impressive: first 

his interest in school racial matters; second 

that he had no administrative staff there.

A short time after the integration plan 

was approved, Time Magazine also contacted the Riverside administration about 

sending a team to do a national story on the Riverside experience. I didn’t want more 

publicity. I wanted just to be alone for a year or two to get this integration program 

organized and make it work. And I thought we could do a better job if we were not 

in the national spotlight. I worried that outside community groups might well use 

Riverside to foster their own interests. We had had an example of this when out-of-

town interests temporarily captured the leadership of the boycott movement. Outside 

groups could well try to influence the program or the Board election coming up in 

the fall of 1966. So I directed Mr. Miller to turn down Time Magazine. And we never 

heard from them again.

Later on, in 1972, we did make the national news, and the timing was more 

appropriate. Tom Wicker, who then was a famous columnist for The New York 

Times and other newspapers and whose column appeared occasionally in The Press-

Enterprise, came to Riverside as a guest lecturer at UCR. Somehow he found out 

about our integration efforts and he asked me for an interview. It was a long, relaxed 

conversation and it turned out to be a laudatory article. 

Above: Telegram from Governor Reagan.
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Esther [Velez] Andrews: I’ll tell you a little incident 
that happened as the busing was going on. Moving 
these children, kindergarten through grade three, from 
Lowell, I got a report back from one of the community 
aides that kids didn’t want to get on the bus. They 
had different places throughout the Eastside where the 
buses would pick them up at 6:30 in the morning to 
take these little babies to schools they didn’t want to 
go to. 

I went to the bus stop and asked them what 
happened. They said, “Oh they’re mean to us, 
they’re ugly, they tell us to go home.” 

I said, “Who?”

They said, “All those women and men at Alcott School.” 

So I said, “Okay, I am getting on the bus with you.” So I got on the bus 
with them. The bus goes to Alcott; it pulls into that circle in front of the school. 

The students said, “You see, Miss Velez. There they are, there they are.” 

It was all parents lined up along Alcott School. I thought, “What? Parents?”

I said, “Okay, here’s the plan, you get off and I’ll be the last one to get off.” 

Sure enough, they get off, and the parents start jeering at them. “Go home. 
What are you doing here? This is our school.”

I am standing at the edge of the bus, hearing them. I let all the students get 
off and then I get off. I walked over to them. They looked at me, and they 
were shocked. They did not expect it. I had my badge. I said, “My name 
is Esther Velez, I am a representative of this district. I am ashamed. I am 
appalled at what you are doing as parents.” They turned their backs and 
started walking away. I kept talking to them, chastising them. “This is 
unheard of. You should care about kids, no matter what kids they are.”

Then I walked into the principal’s office. He was sitting in his office. I 
walked in, and I said, “Do you realize what’s happening out there? In 
fact, I know you realize what’s happening out there. Why haven’t you 
done anything? Allowing those parents, before those kids can start school, 
to yell at them.”

He looked at me and said, “There’s nothing I can do about it.”

I walked out of there and I went to Ray Berry and I told him what was 
happening. He was angry. I said, “Fire him, fire him. He’s incompetent.” 

The best school was Jackson. The principal did his homework. He took 
students, fifth and sixth graders, and made them ambassadors. He told them 
what their job was. He told them that these kids were coming to their school, 
they were new and they were afraid, and that they were to befriend them. 
He did a marvelous job. Those kids met a new kid on the bus; each one had 
a partner. As each one got off, they escorted them, they spent the day with 
them. The kids were saying, at the end of the day, “Mr. Nelson, they need to 
come back, they’re our friends. They’re wonderful, they have to come back.” 
He just embraced it, the teachers embraced it. They did a marvelous job with 
it. He was quite a principal.

ESTHER [VELEZ] 
ANDREWS

SUPERVISOR, 
COMMUNITY AIDE 

PROGRAM

After Lowell was burned, Ray Berry 
enlisted Esther [Velez] Andrews’ help 
to facilitate the transition for students 

in the lower grades and to help 
develop the integration program. 

Being bilingual, she was especially 
valuable in helping to explain the 

changes to Spanish-speaking parents 
in the early days of the transfers. 

Ray Berry named her to supervise 
the community aides hired to 

facilitate the integration process. She 
set up the aide program at Pachappa 
School, conducted training, and was 

joined later that year by Beatrice 
Pavitt. She stayed in the position 

for a few years, until she returned to 
teaching at Emerson.
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His column, which appeared in The New York Times on March 2, 1972, was titled 

“No Easy Way.” It began with a quote from me, “To improve the education of kids is 

a lot harder than we thought it would be.” 

This is even more true under our present circumstances with the United States 

dropping far behind Asia and Europe in effective education. However, in that 

interview I was referring to integration from our experience. The community doesn’t 

get educational improvement merely because one black pupil is sitting next to a white 

pupil. 

Desegregation is different from true integration. In 1970, Pasadena was the first 

non-Southern city ordered by the federal court to desegregate its public school 

system. The remedy was forced busing, including white children to black schools, 

resulting in a decade-long bitter battle within the schools. 

Boston, however, was the most publicized take-over by the federal courts. In 1974, 

Judge W. Arthur Garrity, Jr., assumed control of the Boston schools, which lasted 

until 1988 when the final court case was decided. Between those years there were 

anti-busing mass movements, boycotts, and protests turning violent with injuries, 

even deaths. A white teenager was stabbed nearly to death by a black teenager. The 

community’s white residents mobbed the school, trapping the black students inside. 

After the stabbing, South Boston High was guarded by 500 police officers. In one 

plan, the court decided that the entire junior class from a mostly white South Boston 

High School would be bused to Roxbury High School, a black school in a black 

neighborhood. Half the sophomores from each school would attend the other school, 

and the seniors could decide what school to attend. For three years Massachusetts 

State Troopers were stationed at South Boston High School. By the end of the period 

in 1988, the Boston schools had been reduced from 100,000 students to 57,000, only 

15 percent of whom were white.

Riverside’s integration program took an enormous amount of detailed planning, 

and its success in part rested on the adoption of individual personalized instruction. 

This was a part of Ray Berry’s “decentralized” policy—putting the real decisions at 

the school level, with good people counted on to make good decisions. Education, 

generally, is more difficult than people realize. Teachers can’t do it alone. They need 

parental help and all the resources a community can provide.

As I said to Tom Wicker, education is but one facet of integration, “I think the need 

to bring us together as one people is equal to the need for improved education.” And 

today I think that the need to bring us together as one people is even more important. 

In May 27, 1997, Dan Bernstein, a columnist with The Press-Enterprise, quoted me 

(quite accurately): “What we need almost more than anything is to remain as one 
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 . . . Goodwin continued on page 107

CRAIG GOODWIN

STUDENT AT  
LOWELL SCHOOL

Craig Goodwin: I remember it like it was yesterday, 
because it had a huge impact on those of us going 
[to the upper grades]. It was a particularly moving 
experience, because the way Lowell School was set 
up, you had the ability to move to the big building 
when you were in fifth grade. The big building 
housed the principal’s office, the nurse’s office. 
You had the ability to be a “safety,” meaning 
that during recesses or before and after school, you 
actually wore a badge on your arm and you got to 
be in charge. You would escort the kids that didn’t 
know where they were supposed to be and make 

sure they were following you to the class. So from kindergarten all the way 
through fourth grade, you were looking up at the prospect that you’re going 
to be in the big building. And the summer before my fifth grade, the school 
burned, the big building burned.

It was devastating. I still remember the smell, the burned books, everything 
water-logged because we were just a block away. I remember the next day, 
seeing it burned. It was just a hole in my chest. 

It was one of those kinds of life-changing events, actually. And it went from 
being a life-changing event in a negative way, to going to a new school and 
meeting a bunch of people who had opportunity, who you actually looked at, 
and they had things available to them that you had no idea were available.

So [when the district closed Lowell in 1966 and integrated], the one block 
distance that I traveled to go to school each day [was transformed]. We 
were this little rag tag group of blacks and browns that were friends, and we 
crossed the bridge together into this unknown territory, uncharted waters. 
Our course was either over the Victoria Bridge, or under the Victoria 
Bridge and through the Victoria County Club, then up the other side and 
around the curve to Alcott. We rode bikes sometimes, but for the most part 
we walked. And of course, being 11-year-olds, when we did go under the 
bridge, [it was great]. There was still a creek running there with tadpoles 
and crawdads . . . a little stream that went all the way down to the freeway 
and all the way to RCC [Riverside City College]. 

So some days we would either take golf balls off the driving range and 
throw them around on the golf course or hunt down tadpoles. This is at 
like seven o’clock in the morning, so that by the time you got to school you 
were probably even dirtier than you were when you were wearing your old 
clothes. As I think back about it, we were probably quite a sight. 

The lifesaving change for me was going to Alcott. I had a black, male 
teacher in sixth grade and his name was Richard Keppler. That gave me a 
connection, and he took me under his wing, and there were two significant 
things that happened to me immediately upon arriving in the classroom. 
The first day that we were in class, he was introducing himself and asking 
the kids in the class different questions and he asked, “How many of your 
parents are doctors and lawyers?” 

And I just remember that I laughed out loud, thinking that he was making 
a joke, because being from Lowell School—although I found later that there 
were probably two or three children of doctors at Lowell—it wasn’t reality 

Craig was a student in Doris 
[Doskocil] Haddy’s class with Denise 

Matthews and Wanda [Poole] 
Scruggs when Lowell was burned. 

Esther [Velez] Andrews was his  
kindergarten teacher. 

He transferred to Alcott when Lowell 
closed in 1966. Later at Riverside 
Polytechnic High School, he was 

president of the Black Students 
Union and youth president of the 

NAACP. In 1973, he was a one of 
the organizers of a United Black 

Students Union, which included six 
high schools. He attended San Jose 

State University and then University 
of California, Riverside until he left to 

pursue a successful business career. 
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people. Segregated schools lead to segregated attitudes, and, I think, take us in  

the wrong direction.”

Superintendent Bruce Miller retired in June 1968, after 38 years as a school 

administrator. His career had seen explosive growth in the schools, profound changes 

in school financing, ever-changing ideas about curricula, and a social revolution with 

respect to race and schools. But I am sure the last two or three years were the most 

rewarding in his distinguished career.

The usual method of selecting a new superintendent of schools is to hire a search 

firm, take applications from California and perhaps nationwide, designate a 

committee to weed out all but the top applications, and present the top applicants, 

perhaps three or five, for the decision of the Board. 

Rather than going through this process, I invited the Board to my home for dessert 

and coffee. The first issue was whether to hire a search firm and take applications, 

but it soon became apparent that there was no need for outside help. We had the 

associate superintendent at hand, and he was the best leader we were apt to find 

anywhere in the country. The meeting lasted about ten minutes—Ray Berry was 

unanimously elected the new superintendent of schools. The confidence in him by the 

Board was borne out by his illustrious career as superintendent. He served until his 

retirement in 1978, well-loved by all elements in the community.

One of the more compelling arguments against integration had been that the 

Board’s hasty decision was the result of minority pressure and that more time had 

been needed to study the issue. Of course, the opposition did not understand the 

background of the decision. They did not know that in 1961 a majority of the Board 

had been in favor of closing Lowell School. They did not know that in 1963 the Board 

had considered integration, but with the strong support of the minority community, 

they had decided instead to make their neighborhood schools better. They did not 

appreciate the momentum that had picked up in the 1960s to eliminate all kinds of 

segregation: sit-ins at lunch counters, movies, and hotels; and Freedom Riders to 

eliminate discrimination on interstate buses and depots.

I had concluded in the first days after the fire that the crisis would get worse if 

nothing were done, and if we were going to do anything constructive we had better do 

it at once. To “study” the situation would have been a disaster. To minority groups, 

the word study is a euphemism for not doing anything. Delay was not going to teach 

us anything new. So we did what the Board thought was right. Within two days 

after the fire, we decided that Lowell School would not be rebuilt or go into double 

sessions but rather that the displaced children would be distributed to other schools 

with low minority enrollment. Within a week we decided that all three segregated 

schools, Irving, Lowell, and Casa Blanca, should be integrated and requested thirty 
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for me. So I laughed out loud. And then two-thirds of the classroom raised 
their hands to say that they were, in fact, the children of doctors and lawyers 
or people of significant education. 

It checked me into the reality that these things were possible. This is 
different. I am somewhere else. 

The second thing he did is that he added a word to our vocabulary each 
day. Each day, we had to take a word from the dictionary and work it into 
a sentence the next day and be able to stand and speak that sentence in front 
of the class. It made me appreciate words. He put on my report card to my 
mother that I was intelligent yet loquacious. We raced to the dictionary to 
figure out if that was a good thing or a bad thing. 

It actually helped because I forged some relationships that I still have today 
from the new kids I met. Ultimately the majority of them went to Gage 
Junior High School, I went to Central, and then we all came together again 
at Poly High School, where I went with Todd Littleworth, I think that’s 
Art’s son. In fact, I think I beat him in the sophomore class elections for vice 
president. That was a long, long time ago. 

When you talk about my experience having doctors’ and lawyers’ children 
in a classroom [as a] majority, not just a rare child here or there, where it 
was normal, day-to-day, to have that level of achievement, it meant that 
not only did you graduate from high school but you were expected to go to 
college. And you were expected to graduate from college and maybe seek 
some higher degree. So it became a part of your frame of reference, a part of 
everything that you did every day. You can artificially insert information 
into a segregated school about what is possible on the other side, but until 
you are enmeshed in it, until you are a part of it, it’s not going to be real.

I think that Riverside had a good approach. Obviously, it couldn’t be 
color-blind, it had to consider[all factors] to make the schools integrated and 
make the numbers right so that the blacks and the Hispanics and everybody 
else could be assimilated. But it seemed that there was always some sort of 
“beyond just the numbers” approach. I don’t know if it [originated] all the 
way back with John North coming here as an abolitionist and a religious 
figure or that Arthur Littleworth and the people of the time were good people. 
But it seemed like there was always something that made Riverside care 
more for people . . . because the significance of integration is that it happened 
without much blueprint around the country of how to do it. We were on the 
cutting edge. I think the pro-activeness of it had a lot to do with there not 
being any violence. 

There were protests and there was a Freedom School and there were 
outspoken critics of the status quo, but I think that it was really, really well 
done, and when I think about it, I think it affected me in a way that was 
very, very positive in the end. I attribute a lot of my professional success to 
going through those kinds of things and being able to articulate my concerns 
and being able to talk to people without having any kind of inferiority 
complex. Whereas, I think if I had stayed in a segregated school. . . . I still 
think there would have been a little apprehension about what I was going 
towards. . . . For me, it just broadened my perspective on what was possible.
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days to decide how to do that. And within approximately thirty days, we had a plan 

for complete integration—a pragmatic plan without developing a deep split in the 

Riverside community and thereby avoiding a violent confrontation.

I had never realized how left out the minority community felt. They didn’t believe 

anything we said. We had to show people that they could have faith and trust in the 

leaders of the community. So we just listened, and then we tried to do what we could 

about the righteous complaints. To the parents, this was an education problem, but it 

really was a Riverside community problem—the problem of trying to be one people, 

one community. For a generation or two, we had some success, but times do change. 

I shepherded the integration program on its way until my retirement from the Board 

in 1972. Integration, not desegregation, was secure in the hands of the School Board 

and Ray Berry at that time.

Those years on the School Board, and particularly my role in the voluntary 

integration of Riverside’s schools, were the most gratifying experience in all my public 

service years. I have served on the State Educational, Innovation and Planning 

Commission, 1972–75; as president of Riverside Press Council, 1973–75; as the first 

president of the Mission Inn Foundation, 1976–78, a non-profit corporation charged 

with the responsibility of restoring and operating the Mission Inn until its sale by the 

city; as a member of the Governor’s Commission to Review Water Rights Laws, 1977–

78; as president of Southern California Water Conference, 1983–85; chairman of the 

Arlington Heights Greenbelt Study, 1989; as a member of the Mayor’s Use of Force 

Review Panel, 1999; and as a member of the Mayor’s Santa Ana River Task Force, 

2004. But the most important for me was serving on the Board of Education during 

the integration process. I hope that race relations were truly improved by my actions.

However, Riverside is changing. Today we have a population of about 300,000, and 

the city is much more diverse than it was during the sixties. Things are not the same 

as when Riverside dealt with integration in our schools. But whatever Riverside faces 

in the future, problems in education or otherwise, let us remind ourselves of the history 

of the sixties—we are at our best when we are united as one people.
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The central events of the integration of schools in Riverside, California, will forever 

stay with me, but after all these years the details are apt to be suspect. Fortunately, 

I have been aided in the setting down of this story by meetings and interviews  

that were taped.

In January 1966, Mr. Bruce Miller and I made a lengthy presentation to the State 

Board of Education in which I detailed the background leading up to the integration 

plan, and Mr. Miller and his associate, Dr. Donald Taylor, went over the plan itself.

The State Board asked many probing questions related to the policies of the state 

as a whole. I emphasized that we talked to the “leaders” of the minority community 

for a number of years about the problems of education, and we tried to do something 

to meet their concerns. “I found when we really got down to it, they had not truly 

opened up to us. This basically has to come out of a lack of trust, and there just 

wasn’t any trust. You have to have some understanding, and get down deeply into 

the problem.” The essential element of integration was building that trust. The 

dialogue was taped, and I used parts of it in this memoir. 
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In the spring of 1966, I granted a series of interviews to a graduate student at the 

University of California, Riverside. The crisis of the previous fall of 1965 was still 

fresh in my mind, and some of the interviews were recorded and transcribed. 

In 1988, I was interviewed by an educational writer, Dorothy F. Wissler, PhD. 

The meetings were taped and transcribed. It was the first time I had talked about 

not only the crisis of 1965 but also the implementation of integration from 1966 and 

beyond. She urged me to write a book letting the general public know that things 

can be changed, that making these changes proved to be one of the most satisfying 

aspects of my career. Her research revealed that Riverside became the first large city 

in the nation to voluntarily develop, without court action, a full-scale integration 

plan for its schools.

In 2005, the University of California, Berkeley, published my oral history “Water 

Law Attorney and Riverside Civic Leader.” It dealt primarily with my experiences 

with the law, but there was one part about the integration program in Riverside.

I am deeply indebted to Irving G. Hendrick, history professor at UCR, for The 

Development of a School Integration Plan in Riverside, California: A History and Perspective 

(1968). I used it for the history of Riverside and its schools when I was not on the 

School Board (prior to 1958). And I used it to obtain certain statistical information, 

the names of the citizens’ committees, the text of the petition for integration, and 

some additional reports and statements. It was invaluable since I did not have to go 

through the school records. It had already been done for me.

I obtained the legal civil rights background in Chapter 3 from copies of the original 

rulings of the courts. These were provided by the Best Best & Krieger law library. 

Additional sources include the U.S. Department of State’s Free At Last, The U.S. Civil 

Rights Movement and information on the 16th Street Baptist Church bombing and 

Rosa Parks from Wikipedia.

My good friend, Barbara Shackelton, edited the manuscript for punctuation and 

grammar rules and gave me valuable recommendations on organization.

Lastly, and most importantly, I want to express my deep gratitude to my wife, 

Peggy. I wrote this work by hand, and she typed it—with many drafts. Since my 

stroke, writing is a struggle, tiresome, with the result that my writing style was rather 

sparse. She gave me encouragement when needed, she filled in words when I knew 

what I wanted to write but couldn’t find the words, and she was a constructive critic. 

Without her help, these reflections would still be in my mind.
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The honors and recognitions conferred on Arthur L. Littleworth 
are numerous, but at the top of the list is his appointment as 
a “Special Master” by the United States Supreme Court in a 
precedent setting water rights case between the States of Kansas 
and Colorado involving the Arkansas River. Despite this honor, 
however, Arthur is most proud of his service as a member of the 
Riverside Unified School District Board of Education from 1958 
to 1973, and as President from 1962 to 1973. In this role, he was 
responsible for leading the district in the voluntary integration of 
the Riverside School system, the first school district with more than 
20,000 students to do so in the nation. 

Born and raised in Los Angeles, Arthur went to Yale University 
on a full scholarship earning a Bachelor of Arts with Honors in 
American History. He later entered the U.S. Navy and saw battle 
in the Pacific during the final months of World War II. Returning 
home he proceeded to earn a Master of Arts in American History 
from Stanford University and law degree from Yale Law School 
in 1950. That same year he joined Best Best & Krieger, today 
one of California’s major law firms with more than 200 attorneys 
in 9 offices. He went on to become senior partner, where he led 
the water law practice group. He was named as one of the “Top 
100” lawyers in California, 2001 and 2003, by the Daily Journal, 
California’s legal newspaper, and was listed in “The Best Lawyers 
in America” for Natural Resources Law. He is the co-author 
of California Water (1995) and California Water II (2008). 
His professional recognitions include “The Erwin Chemerinsky 
Defender of the Constitution Award” from the Federal Bar 
Association, “Premier Water Attorney” from the Water Education 
Foundation, “Lifetime Achievement Award” from the Water 
Resources Institute, and the “James Krieger Meritorious Service 
Award” from the Riverside County Bar Association.

His community service record is exceptional in the fields of 
education, the environment, and civil rights. His leadership in the 
community has been recognized with top awards from Riverside 
Community College Foundation, Greater Riverside Chambers 
of Commerce, Monday Morning Group, City of Riverside, 
Phi Delta Kappa, the Mission Inn Foundation, and the 
Riverside Civic League. 
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